IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-1689

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 91-373-CFB

ANTONIO LEBARON MELTON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

D. TODD DOSS Florida Bar No. 0910384

725 Southeast Baya Drive Suite 102 Lake City, FL 32025-6092 Telephone (386) 755-9119 Facsimile (386) 755-3181

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Melton's motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The circuit court denied Mr. Melton's claims after a limited evidentiary hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 5, 1991, Mr. Melton was charged by indictment for first degree murder and armed robbery with a firearm (R. 1117). After pleading not guilty to both counts of the indictment, Mr. Melton was tried before a jury. Mr. Melton's jury returned verdicts of guilty of first degree felony murder and robbery with a firearm, on January 30, 1992 (R. 895-6, 1275-6). Following a penalty phase, the jury recommended death by a vote of eight (8) to four (4) (R. 1112, 1285). On May 19, 1992 the trial court imposed a sentence of death for the murder and life imprisonment on the armed robbery (R. 1380-1401, 1413-22).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr.

Melton's convictions and sentences. Melton v. State, 638 So. 2d

927 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Melton filed a petition for writ of

certiorari in the United States Supreme Court, which was denied

on October 31, 1994. Melton v. Florida, 513 U.S. 970, 115 S.

Ct. 441, 130 L.Ed2d 352 (1994).

Mr. Melton's initial Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 motion was filed on January 16, 1996 (PCR. 74-200). An amended motion was filed on July 5, 2001 (PCR. 907-1083). Following a <u>Huff</u> hearing on October 18, 2001, the circuit court granted a limited evidentiary hearing on several of Mr. Melton's claims (PCR.

1191-93). On February 11, 2002, Mr. Melton amended his Rule 3.850 motion (PCR. 1365-1558). On February 13-15, 2002, the circuit court held an evidentiary hearing. On March 23, 2004, the circuit court issued an order denying relief (PCR. 1937-2018). On July 27, 2004, the circuit court denied Mr. Melton's motion for rehearing (PCR. 2026-2033). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

TRIAL PROCEEDINGS

On January 23, 1991, Bendleon Lewis and Antonio Melton were arrested for killing pawn shop owner George Carter. They were caught inside the pawn shop immediately after Mr. Carter was shot (R. 501-2). Mr. Lewis stated that Mr. Melton alone had shot Mr. Carter, while Mr. Lewis was in another part of the pawn shop (R. 636). Mr. Melton stated that Mr. Carter's gun went off during a struggle for control of the weapon (R. 691-5).

On March 15, 1991, Ben Lewis gave a statement to the authorities implicating Mr. Melton and a man named Tony Houston in the killing of cab driver Ricky Saylor (T. 54, 57-8, 203).

Mr. Melton was subsequently tried for the murder of Mr. Saylor. On September 13, 1991, the jury found Mr. Melton guilty of the murder of Ricky Saylor. On November 6, 1991, Mr. Melton received two life sentences for the murder and armed robbery of

Mr. Saylor (R. 924).

Mr. Melton's conviction in the Saylor case did not rest on any physical evidence from the crime scene. Mr. Melton's conviction was not secured through any eyewitness testimony. The only direct evidence to convict Mr. Melton of first degree murder and robbery was the testimony of co-defendant Tony Houston (R2 396-401) and Ben Lewis, who was not charged in the murder.

Subsequent to Mr. Melton's conviction in the Saylor case, the State utilized this conviction to secure a death sentence for Mr. Melton in the present proceedings, the George Carter murder. In its sentencing order, the trial court relied on two

¹The only physical evidence tying anyone to the scene was a fingerprint belonging to Tony Houston found on the back seat passenger door of the cab (R2. 337).

 $^{^2}$ Mr. Houston pled guilty to Second Degree Murder.

aggravating circumstances, pecuniary gain and the prior violent felony from the Saylor case (R. 1394-5).

Regarding the aggravating factor of a prior violent felony, the trial court found:

The defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony and of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person. The evidence established conclusively and beyond any reasonable doubt that the defendant was previously convicted of first degree murder and armed robbery. In that case, as in this case, the victim was killed by a shot to the head while the defendant was participating in the robbery of the victim. In both cases, the evidence established that the defendant fired the fatal shots. The violent crimes of which defendant were convicted were extremely violent and life-threatening, and resulted in the death of the victim. They were committed with no pretense of moral justification, for pecuniary gain, and with disregard to the life of the victim. The Court gives great weight to this aggravating circumstance.

(R. 1395).

While addressing the issue of mitigating circumstances, the court gave no weight to the defense's argument of disparate treatment of co-defendants, the defendant's domination by co-defendant Ben Lewis, or that the death of Mr. Carter occurred under accidental circumstances:

3. Lenient treatment or disparate sentences, actual and inchoate, given to co-defendants. The Court finds that no mitigating circumstance in this regard was proved by the greater weight of the evidence. Co-defendant Bendeleon Lewis has not been sentenced in this case. There can be little doubt that Bendeleon Lewis expects and will receive some

degree of leniency (certainly less than a death sentence) for his cooperation, and considering the fact that the evidence conclusively establishes the defendant, and not Bendeleon Lewis, as the trigger man who committed the actual killing in this case. There are legitimate reasons for imposition of a lesser sentence on Bendeleon Lewis, and such lesser sentence would not be disparate or constitute a mitigating circumstance.

Not charging or prosecuting Bendeleon Lewis in the death of Ricky Saylor is not lenient treatment and does not constitute a mitigating circumstance. The greater weight of the evidence proves that the State does not have sufficient valid evidence to do so; nor does failure of the State to prosecute Bendeleon Lewis for perjury. Sentencing of co-defendant Tony Houston in the prior case to twenty years imprisonment is not lenient or disparate treatment in that case, and would not be a mitigating circumstance in this case if it were. Again, in the prior case, Antonio Melton was proved to be the trigger man, not co-defendant Tony Houston, and legitimate reasons existed for differing sentences.

- 4. Defendant's domination by codefendant, Bendeleon Lewis. This circumstance is not proved by the greater weight of the evidence, and has only the defendant's testimony to support it. The evidence is clear that the defendant voluntarily participated in this robbery and in fact armed himself with a firearm which he personally carried into the store to facilitate the robbery. There is no doubt from the evidence that he acted of his own volition and as a willing participant in the robbery. Defendant did not act under the substantial domination of any other person.
- 5. The death of Mr. Carter occurring under accidental circumstances. This circumstance was not proved by the greater weight of the evidence. It is supported only by the defendant's testimony and is inconsistent with most of the other evidence in this case. Mr. Carter had every right to resist, but the reliable evidence indicates that he did not do so -

only the defendant's testimony. It is difficult to believe that, in a struggle, the victim was "accidentally" shot in the exact spot in the head that would produce immediate death. In the trial phase of the case, the jury had a reasonable doubt as to whether the killing was premeditated. However, in the penalty phase of the trial, it is evident that the jury rejected any contention that the shooting was "accidental" in recommending death by an eight to four vote.

(R. 1397-99).

THE POSTCONVICTION EVIDENTIARY HEARING3

During the postconviction evidentiary hearing, testimony was presented regarding the ineffective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase.

Frankie Stoutemire, Sr. is the father of Antonio Melton (T. 549). He testified that he was in the service when Antonio was raised (T. 558). While Mr. Stoutemire would have visits with Antonio (T. 559-60), Antonio's mother was living with David Booker at the time (T. 560). It seems that every time Mr. Stoutemire came home to see his son, Antonio's mother would get repercussions from David Booker (T. 561).

³Mr. Melton's evidentiary hearing was consolidated with his noncapital case, 91-1219 (PCR. 1937).

⁴They lived in the projects (T. 562).

Mr. Stoutemire had heard that Booker was abusing Antonio's mother (T. 560). ⁵ This led to a confrontation with Booker. Mr. Stoutemire told him that "if he ever touched my son, it was going to be me and him out on the street." (T. 560).

Mr. Stoutemire recalled a conversation where Antonio told him he was out of school and couldn't get a real job (T. 563). Mr. Stoutemire advised him to join the service and get out of town (T. 563). Antonio shook his head and that was the last time Mr. Stoutemire saw him (T. 563). According to Mr. Stoutemire, the religion that Antonio's mom believed in did not agree with going into the military (T. 563). Antonio's mom had raised him, so Mr. Stoutemire backed off (T. 563). Mr. Stoutemire lamented that Antonio didn't have any guidance his whole life (T. 564). 6

Latricia Davis, Mr. Melton's mother, testified that the family had lived in subsidized housing called Truman Arms (T. 661-2), which was a rough, bad place (T. 662). Ms. Davis was strict with Antonio because she didn't want him turning out like a lot of the young people that she was seeing around (T. 663). She did what she could being a single, working parent (T. 663).

 $^{^{5}}$ He also knew that Booker was a heroin addict (T. 561).

⁶Mr. Stoutemire also testified to names of potential

Ms. Davis had been married to David Booker, who had a drug problem (T. 666). This caused many problems at home, and Mr. Booker was verbally and physically abusive (T. 667).

Later on during Antonio's youth, Ms. Davis became active in the Jehova's Witness Church (T. 669). She tried to get Antonio to live that type of lifestyle, because it was best for him (T. 669). This involved keeping him away from school activities (T. 670).

Finally, Ms. Davis took Antonio out of school when he was 16 because of the bad associations that he was exposed to (T. 664). Ben Lewis was one of the people that Ms. Davis didn't want her son hanging around with at school (T. 666). Antonio looked up to these kids because he was sheltered and they had so much street knowledge (T. 664). Ben Lewis, for example, seemed so much wiser and street smart (T. 666).

When Antonio was 16, Ms. Davis got married and moved to Mobile (T. 663). Antonio stayed with his grandmother and aunt in Pensacola (T. 665).

Ms. Davis spoke to trial counsel prior to those proceedings (T. 668). Counsel didn't ask about Ms. Davis trying to keep Antonio away from unsupervised children in the projects (T.

668). According to Ms. Davis, postconviction counsel asked about more details than trial counsel (T. 684).

Margaret Parker, Mr. Melton's aunt, testified that Mr.

Melton would sometimes stay with her after he was 16 years old

(T. 746). Ms. Parker noted that after Antonio's mom moved, he
was out more often (T. 748). According to Ms. Parker, Antonio
was less mature than other children his age (T. 752), and he
trusted other kids (T. 753). Ms. Parker observed that in regard
to Antonio, Ben Lewis, and Tony Houston, it was Houston who
seemed to be the leader of the group, then Lewis (T. 749).

No one from Antonio's defense team ever spoke to Ms. Parker (T.
750-1). Had they done so, she would have spoken to them about
the information she provided during her testimony (T. 754).

Lawrence Gilgun, a clinical psychologist, evaluated Mr.

Melton on January, 28, 1992, approximately one week before Mr.

Melton's trial (T. 310). Dr. Gilgun acknowledged that this was not standard practice, and that usually, he would be involved at least two months before trial (T. 310).

Dr. Gilgun noted that his bill did not reflect any discussions with the trial attorney (T. 311, D-Ex. 11). He would have recorded a face to face meeting on his bill (T. 311).

 $^{^{7}}$ Lewis and Houston were bother older than Antonio (T. 749).

While Dr. Gilgun did not recall independently what records were provided to him, he spoke of evaluating school records and depositions in his penalty phase testimony (T. 312). However, he was not provided with Mr. Melton's statement to the police, nor did he speak to any of Mr. Melton's family or friends (T. 312). Trial counsel did not supply any of this information to him, nor any information about Mr. Melton's upbringing (T. 312).

Dr. Gilgun did not know what trial counsel's plan was regarding the penalty phase (T. 339). Usually, he discusses these things with the attorney (T. 340). Dr. Gilgun concluded that if he had been given more information, he could have potentially given more mitigation (T. 341).

Dr. Henry Dee is a clinical psychologist with a subspecialty in clinical neuropsychology (T. 367). Dr. Dee saw Mr. Melton in January, 1996 and again in November, 2001 for approximately 14 hours (T. 369-70). During this time, he conducted a neuropsychological evaluation and extensive

⁸Dr. Gilgun explained that the importance of other materials is for corroboration (T. 313). Also, these material help him to structure his interview and to elicit more information (T. 313).

interviewing (T. 370). Mr. Melton was very open and seemed to be genuinely remorseful (T. 379).

Dr. Dee reviewed discovery materials, school records, juvenile records, a previous evaluation by Dr. Gilgun, the Florida Supreme Court appeal, and witness testimony at the penalty phase of the Carter trial (T. 370-1). Dr. Dee spoke to Mr. Melton's mother, his aunt Margaret Faye Johnson, Latricia Davis and his father, Mr. Stoutemire (T. 380). Dr. Dee believes that this material is necessary to investigate the issue of mitigation, and it is also helpful to have independent corroborative evidence (T. 371).

While Mr. Melton didn't have any brain damage, Dr. Dee did find evidence of other mitigation (T. 372). Mr. Melton had an unusual childhood (T. 373). He was in a sense overprotected (T. 373). Dr. Dee explained that Mr. Melton's mother was a Jehova's Witness and she involved him in this religion (T. 373). While Mr. Melton had been a gifted athlete when he was younger, his mother forced him to give it up and be more and more involved in intensive Bible study (T. 373). Also, she withdrew him from athletics in part because she didn't care for the influence of

 $^{^{9}\}mathrm{Mr}$. Melton denied any involvement in the Saylor case (T. 379).

peers (T. 374). By the time he reached middle adolescence, Mr. Melton was fairly isolated from his peers (T. 374). 10

With regard to emotional maturity, Mr. Melton was a strikingly immature boy for 18 (T. 381). By the time he entered high school, he had almost no social contact (T. 381). Dr. Dee felt that Mr. Melton could be easily manipulated (T. 383). That's why his mother didn't want him around the locker room and withdrew him from football (T. 383).

Mr. Melton went from a situation of being isolated and/or in the church to being with a bunch of criminals by the time he got to high school (T. 374). Mr. Melton immediately fell in with these people (T. 374). He began to skip school, use drugs, and talk back (T. 374).

As a result of this, Ms. Davis withdrew her son from school at age 16 (T. 374). She gave him a choice of either conforming to everything she believed in or to move out (T. 375). From then until the time he was arrested, Mr. Melton would sometimes be with his grandmother or aunt (T. 375). During the two years

¹⁰Dr. Dee explained that Ms. Davis worked a lot to support Mr. Melton and his brother (T. 373). Thus, from a fairly young age, Antonio was taking care of his brother after school (T. 373).

 $^{^{11}\}mathrm{Mr}$. Melton viewed Mr. Lewis and Mr. Houston as more sophisticated than himself (T. 383).

prior to his arrest, Mr. Melton had essentially no supervision (T. 378).

Dr. Dee commented that Mr. Melton's stepfather was a very harsh man (T. 375). He was abusive towards Ms. Davis in front of Antonio (T. 376), to the point where he broke her arm (T. 376). Mr. Melton's stepfather used heroin and would bring other women into the house in front of him (T. 376). It was frankly grossly immoral conduct and probably shocking to a young child (T. 376).

Dr. Dee testified that Mr. Melton's father did not have much contact with him (T. 376). He went into the Service for about three years at the time Mr. Melton was born (T. 376). He injured his back badly and had to have a series of operations (T. 376-7). By the time he returned, his son was already an adolescent and living with his grandmother (T. 377). Unfortunately, Mr. Melton's only male role model was an abusive heroin addict (T. 377).

Dr. Dee testified that Mr. Melton has an IQ of 98 (T. 390). While Dr. Dee made several errors in the scoring, the mistakes are not significant (T. 415). Mr. Melton's IQ was in the normal range (T. 409), and Dr. Dee made nothing of those results (T. 415).

The Honorable Terry Terrell is presently a circuit court judge (T. 153). Prior to that, he was the chief assistant public defender for the First Judicial Circuit of Florida (T. 154). He worked for the Public Defender's Office for fifteen years (T. 154). Judge Terrell was first assigned to represent Mr. Melton on the Carter case (T. 155), where he was charged with first degree murder and armed robbery (T. 155). Judge Terrell also represented Mr. Melton when he was arrested for the Saylor murder (T. 155).

Judge Terrell testified that his trial schedule was busy back in 1991 and 1992 (T. 183-4). While he retained a psychologist, Dr. Gilgun, to evaluate Mr. Melton (T. 183), this evaluation occurred a week before trial (T. 186). This was not Judge Terrell's standard practice in preparing for a penalty phase (T. 186). Judge Terrell did not recall if there was any reason for that timing (T. 187).

If Judge Terrell had information that Mr. Melton's mother lived with a heroin addict during Mr. Melton's youth, he may have presented it if it had an impact on Mr. Melton's development (T. 187). He also likely would have presented an expert who could testify to Mr. Melton being raised in a church with no exposure to criminal elements until age 16 (T. 188).

Judge Terrell possibly would have presented information that Mr. Melton was new to the streets in comparison to Mr.

Lewis (T. 188). This is particularly true given that Mr. Melton was 17 years old when Mr. Saylor was killed (T. 188). If Judge Terrell had known it at the time, he would have presented Mr.

Lewis' reduced charge to the jury as it goes to proportionality (T. 189). The witness would also have presented Mr. Houston's 20-year sentence in the Saylor case to the jury during the Carter penalty phase (T. 189).

Judge Terrell called Mr. Melton's mother, Ms. Davis, to bring out Antonio's background, for what value it had (T. 247). He did not consult with anyone in the Melton family regarding any religious activities as it might impact on Mr. Melton's development (T. 247). He did not at the time consider this to be other than a personal family issue (T. 247).

Additionally, during the evidentiary hearing six individuals were called to testify regarding separate statements made to them by Ben Lewis while in the Escambia County Jail. 12 The first witness, David Sumler, came into contact with Ben

 $^{^{12}}$ Postconviction counsel also called Terry Rhines, a CCRC investigator, to testify to his efforts to locate these witnesses (T. 526-540).

Lewis in 1991 (T. 420).¹³ During a conversation, Mr. Lewis stated that he and Tony Houston shot a taxi driver and that Mr. Melton wasn't there at the time (T. 420).¹⁴ According to Mr. Sumler, Mr. Lewis was bragging in the cell, which contained 24 other inmates (T. 435). Everyone in the cell knew what Mr. Lewis was doing (T. 433).

Subsequently, someone from law enforcement came to see Mr. Sumler (T. 430). 15 He was asked whether Mr. Lewis had said anything about Mr. Melton being at the scene where the taxi driver got shot (T. 430). Mr. Sumler related the same information (T. 430). To his knowledge the officer who interviewed him was obtaining information to present to the courts on his [Melton's] behalf (T. 439).

Mr. Sumler is presently incarcerated for aggravated battery and is serving 24 years, with a release date of 2012 (T. 439, 444). Additionally, he testified that he has nineteen prior felony convictions (T. 448).

 $^{^{13}\}mathrm{Mr}$. Sumler testified that he has known Ben Lewis, Tony Houston and Antonio Melton since they were little children in the neighborhood (T. 437).

 $^{^{14}}$ Mr. Lewis did not specifically say who shot the taxicab driver, only that Mr. Melton was not there and he and Mr. Houston were (T. 435).

 $^{^{15} {}m The}$ witness did not recall who it was specifically that

The second witness to testify regarding a statement made to him by Ben Lewis while in the Escambia County Jail was Paul Sinkfield. Mr. Sinkfield recalls that during this conversation, Mr. Lewis confided in him about two robberies and murders (T. 452-3). Mr. Lewis stated that he robbed and killed a cab driver with T.H. [Tony Houston] (T. 453). Mr. Lewis said he himself shot the cab driver because "he was just nervous, got excited and shot him" (T. 454).

Mr. Lewis also told Mr. Sinkfield about the pawn shop murder (T. 455). He said that he got into a struggle with the owner, that Mr. Melton ran over to help and that's when the gun went off and killed the victim (T. 456). During the time of this conversation, Mr. Lewis was very worried; he was facing life in prison for murder (T. 457).

came to see him or how they got his name (T. 430).

 $^{^{16}\}mathrm{Mr}$. Sinkfield testified that he has about 20 felony convictions (T. 461).

 $^{^{17}}$ This conversation occurred in 1990 or 1991 (T. 451-2).

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