IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ANTONIO LEBARON MELTON,		
Appellant,	CACE NO.	. SC04-1
ν.	CASE NO	. 5004-1
STATE OF FLORIDA,		
Appellee.		

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I -

Melton asserts his counsel was ineffective for failing to present his background and mental health testimony. There was no deficient performance. Counsel presented background and mental health testimony in the penalty phase. Dr. Lawrence J. Gilgun, a clinical psychologist, testified for the defense during the penalty phase. Nor was there any prejudice. No significant mental health mitigation was omitted from the penalty phase. Both experts - the one actually presented at penalty phase in front of the jury and the post-conviction defense expert - agreed that there is nothing basically wrong with Melton's mental health. Thus, the trial court properly found no ineffectiveness.

ISSUE II -

Melton asserts that the trial court improperly considered lack of remorse as a non-statutory aggravator. The law regarding lack of remorse is limited to the penalty phase and the judge's sentencing decision. This does not amount to non-statutory aggravation because the post-conviction court was not sentencing the defendant. While the sentencing court may not consider lack

۱ I ۱

of remorse as an aggravating circumstance, the post-conviction court was not determining aggravating circumstances. Aggravating circumstances are not at issue in post-conviction proceedings. The post-conviction court was considering Melton's denial of any involvement in the Saylor taxi cab murder in the context of rejecting a claim of ineffectiveness. The postconviction court was merely observing that Melton's incredible denial meant that defense counsel lacked any possible defense to the prior violent felony aggravator. Passing references to lack of remorse are not error. Even if an improper consideration in the post-conviction context, legal error by a judge is not judicial bias. Melton received a fair hearing and this claim should be denied.

ISSUE III -

Melton asserts that the prosecutor violated *Brady* when (1) the prosecutor stated in closing that Lewis was subpoenaed;(2) the prosecutor argued in closing that Lewis had no agreement with the State in exchange for his testimony; and (3) the prosecutor in the Saylor case testified in the penalty phase of this case that the evidence was that Melton was the triggerman in the Saylor case. Melton may not premise a *Brady* claim on the

\ I \

prosecutor's arguments. Brady concerns suppressed evidence, not closing argument. The prosecutor's statements were accurate and based on the testimony. The testimony regarding the Saylor murder was accurate. The evidence in the Saylor trial established that Melton was the triggerman. Thus, the trial court properly denied this Brady claim.

ISSUE IV -

Melton asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to locate and present two inmate to impeach Lewis. The inmates testified that Lewis told them that he was involved in the struggle with the victim. Their testimony is not admissible. Collateral counsel does not even attempt to provide a theory of admissibility regarding the hearsay statements. Even if admissible, counsel's performance was not deficient because these inmates were not available. Furthermore, there is no prejudice because the inmates were not credible. Their assertions contradicts Melton's own trial testimony that he was the shooter and that Lewis was in the front of the store at the time of the fatal shooting. Thus, the trial court properly denied the claim of ineffectiveness.

\ **/** \

ISSUE V -

Melton argues two inmates testified that the co-perpertrator Lewis told them that he, Melton and the victim were involved in a struggle when the gun went off and that he is entitled to a new trial (or penalty phase) based on this newly discovered evidence. Lewis did not recant his trial testimony. Lewis did not testify at the evidentiary hearing. The trial court found the inmates' testimony to be incredible. The inmates hearsay testimony conflicts with Melton's own trial testimony and the physical evidence. It would not produce an acquittal or life sentence. The trial court properly denied this claim of newly discovered evidence and this Court should affirm.

ISSUE VI -

Melton contends that an invalid prior conviction was used as the prior violent felony aggravator at the penalty phase in violation of *Johnson v. Mississippi*, 486 U.S. 578, 108 S.Ct. 1981, 100 L.Ed.2d 575 (1988). IB at 88. The State introduced the first degree felony murder and the armed robbery conviction in the Saylor taxi cab driver murder as a prior violent felony aggravator in this capital case. The First District has

۱**۱**۱

recently affirmed the conviction. So, there is no basis for a *Johnson* claim.

ISSUE VII -

Melton asserts his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's argument. There was no deficient performance because none of the prosecutor's comments were objectionable. Trial defense is not ineffective for not making baseless objections during closing argument. Nor is there any prejudice. Had trial counsel objected, the trial court would have overruled the objection. Thus, the trial court properly denied this claim of ineffectiveness.

ISSUE VIII -

Melton asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor challenging several black female prospective jurors for cause. There was no deficient performance. Trial counsel did object. Furthermore, there was no prejudice. These prospective jurors were properly stricken for cause. Thus, the court properly summarily denied this claim.

ARGUMENT

\ \ ** \

ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FIND COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PRESENT MORE BACKGROUND AND MENTAL HEALTH EXPERTS AS MITIGATING EVIDENCE DURING PENALTY PHASE? (Restated)

Melton asserts his counsel was ineffective for failing to present his background and mental health testimony. There was no deficient performance. Counsel presented background and mental health testimony in the penalty phase. Dr. Lawrence J. Gilgun, a clinical psychologist, testified for the defense during the penalty phase. Nor was there any prejudice. No significant mental health mitigation was omitted from the penalty phase. Both experts - the one actually presented at penalty phase in front of the jury and the post-conviction defense expert - agreed that there is nothing basically wrong with Melton's mental health. Thus, the trial court properly found no ineffectiveness.

Law of the case and jurisdiction

Part of this ineffectiveness claim is not properly before this Court. The First District recently per curiam affirmed Melton's prior convictions relating to the Saylor taxi cab murder in the post-conviction appeal. *Melton v. State*, 909 So.2d 865 (Fla. 1st

1 1 1 1

DCA 2005)(unanimous panel). Melton raised the same claim in his postconviction appeal to the First District that he presents here, which they rejected. Melton asserted that his lawyer was ineffective for failing to present inmates who would testify as to Lewis statements to them in his post-conviction appeal to the First District. The First District, after expanded briefing and oral argument, rejected this claim.

Melton may not relitigate this issue in this Court. The First District's decision is final and not subject to review by this Court. State v. Barnum, 2005 WL 2296638, *8 (Fla. 2005)(noting the district courts have been designed to be the final appellate courts in the state of Florida). The First District issued an unanimous per curiam affirmance and this Court has no jurisdiction to review PCAs. Art. V, § 3, Fla. Const.; Stallworth v. Moore, 827 So.2d 974, 978 (Fla. 2002)(holding that Court does not have discretionary review jurisdiction or extraordinary writ jurisdiction to review unelaborated per curiam denials of relief, regardless of whether the denials are in opinion form or by way of unpublished order); Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980)(holding that this Court "lacks jurisdiction to review per curiam decisions of the several district courts of appeal of this state rendered without

\ \ Г \

opinion, regardless of whether they are accompanied by a dissenting or concurring opinion . . ."). The First District's decision is the final word. Melton is appellate court shopping.

Collateral counsel mistakenly seems to believe that trial counsel would have been allowed to retrial the Saylor murder conviction in front of the Carter penalty phase jury. He would not. Trials within trials are not permitted. The most counsel could have done to challenge the Saylor conviction in front of the Carter penalty phase jury was to cross-examine the Saylor prosecutor about the details that he testified regarding the Saylor trial, which he did.

Penalty Phase

At the penalty phase, trial counsel presented six witnesses (1) Jim Jenkins, who was Lewis' lawyer (T 977-988); (2) Dr. Lawrence J. Gilgun, a clinical psychologist (T 988-1000); (3) Frankie Stoutemire, Melton's biological father (T 1000-1012); (4) Debbie Thurman, criminal deputy clerk of court; (4) Latricia Davis, Melton's mother (by videotape) (T 1015-1040); (5) Melton (T 1040-1062) and (6) Eloise Melton, Melton's grandmother (T

\ \ \ \ \

1062-1069). Dr. Gilgun testified that Melton's father had left and his stepfather was not a positive influence. (T. 999)

He also presented: Latricia Davis, Melton's mother, (in person) (CCS 34-35); Barney Booker, Melton's brother (CCS 35-37); and Defendant himself who made a brief statement (CCS 37-38).

Evidentiary hearing testimony

At the evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel presented (1) Dr. Lawrence Gilgun (who had testified in the penalty phase) (EH 309-347); (2) Dr. Henry L. Dee, a clinical psychologist (EH 367-416); (3) Frankie Stoutemire, Defendant's biological father (who had testified in the penalty phase) (EH 557-567); (4) Latricia E. Davis, Defendant's mother (who has testified in the penalty phase) (EH 661-685); and (5) Margaret Parker, Defendant's aunt (EH 744-762).

The trial court's ruling

The trial court ruled:

Penalty Phase - Ineffective Assistance of Counsel (IAC) TDC testified at the EH that he had a busy trial schedule especially at the end of 1991 and early 1992, which period included Melton's two cases. (EH 183-84). TDC maintained contemporaneous records for purposes of recertification as a Board Certified criminal trial attorney and those records showed his very busy schedule immediately surrounding Melton's two trials, the records showed TDC had eight jury trials and one bench trial. (EH 184-85).

Duty To Investigate Defendant's Background

An attorney has a reasonable duty to conduct a reasonable investigation, including an investigation of the defendant's background, for possible mitigating evidence." Rose v. State, 675 So.2d 567, 571 (Fla.1996) (citing Porter v. Singletary, 14 F.3d 554, 557 (11th Circ.), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1009, 115 S.Ct. 532, 130 L.Ed.2d 435 (1994)). The failure to do so "may render counsel's assistance ineffective." Bolender v. Singletary, 16 F.3d 1547, 1556-57 (11th Cir.) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1022, 115 S.Ct. 589, 130 L.Ed.2d 502 (1994)). A relevant question is whether trial counsel had a reasonable basis for his strategic decision that an explication of the defendant's family background would not have reduced the risk of the death Id., at 1558. It is noted that "the mere penalty. incantation of 'strategy' does not insulate attorney behavior from review; an attorney must have chosen not to present mitigating evidence after having investigated the defendant's background, and that choice must have been reasonable under the circumstances." Id., at 1558 (quoting Stevens v. Zant, 968 F.2d 1076, 1083 (11th Cir. 1992)).

In Gudinas v. State, 816 So.2d 1095, 1104 (Fla. 2002), the Florida Supreme Court stated:

The Eleventh Circuit has succinctly outlined the analysis for determining whether counsel's failure to investigate and present mitigating evidence was deficient:

First, it must be determined whether a reasonable investigation should have uncovered such mitigating evidence. If so, then a determination must be made whether the failure to put this evidence before the jury was a tactical choice by trial counsel. If so, such a choice must be given a strong presumption of correctness, and the inquiry is generally at an end. If, however, the failure to present the mitigating evidence was an oversight, and not a tactical decision, then a harmlessness review must be made to determine if there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. Thus, it must be determined that defendant suffered actual prejudice due to the ineffectiveness of his trial counsel before relief will be granted. Middleton v. Dugger, 849 F.2d 491, 493 (11th Cir. 1988) (citation omitted).

Defendant does not claim that his counsel failed to present any mitigation concerning his background. Rather, Defendant claims that he is entitled to relief because the record reflects that counsel failed to adequately investigate possible mitigating evidence and that he presented little evidence of mitigation in the penalty phase - even though substantial mitigating evidence could have been uncovered if counsel had made a reasonable investigation.

At the penalty phase, TDC presented the following witnesses: on February 5, 1992: Jim Jenkins, Esq. (CC 977-988); Dr. Lawrence J. Gilgun, a clinical psychologist (CC 988-1000); Frankie Stoutemire, Defendant's biological father (CC 1000-1012); Debbie Thurman, criminal deputy clerk of court; Latricia Davis , Defendant's mother (by videotape) (CC 1015-1040): and Defendant (CC 1040-1062); Eloise Melton, Defendant's grandmother (CC 1062-1069); and on March 10, 1992: Latricia Davis (in person) (CCS 34-35); Barney Booker, Defendant's brother (CCS 35-37); and Defendant himself who made a brief statement (CCS 37-38).

At the evidentiary hearing, postconviction counsel presented the following witnesses in an effort to show additional significant mitigation evidence which would have been available had his trial counsel chosen to conduct a reasonable investigation: (1) Dr. Lawrence Gilgun (who had testified in the penalty phase) (EH 309-347); (2) Dr. Henry L. Dee, a clinical psychologist (EH 367-416); (3) Frankie Stoutemire, Defendant's biological father (who had testified in the penalty phase) (EH 557-567 concerning mitigation evidence); (4) Latricia E. Davis, Defendant's mother (who has testified in the penalty phase) (EH 661-685); and (5) Margaret Parker, Defendant's aunt (EH 744-762).

Duty to Investigate and Present Mental Health Mitigation Evidencea. Dr. Lawrence J. Gilgun (Defense expert at penalty phase)

TDC testified at the EH that he did not recall having a tactical or strategic reason for not retaining at an earlier date Dr. Lawrence J. Gilgun, a clinical and

forensic psychologist who had testified in 10 to 15 death penalty cases in his 28 plus years of practice. (EH 186, 333). Dr. Gilgun testified that he first met and evaluated Defendant in the Escambia County Jail on January 28, 1991, about one week prior to trial. (CC 991) (EH 309-10). TDC testified that his routine practice was to maintain contemporaneous notes and that he could not find anything within his records to show that he had contact with Dr. Gilgun earlier than one week prior to trial. (EH 186-87). Dr. Gilgun testified that his billing records did not reflect any pretrial discussions with defense counsel in the instant case. (EH 311). Dr. Gilgun testified that it was not his standard practice to get involved in a capital case at such a late date and he could not recall a case where he was not involved at least two months prior to trial. (EH 310). TDE admitted that it was not his standard practice to have a defendant evaluated by a mental health expert only one week before trial for purposes of preparing the penalty phase in a capital defense case. (EH 186).

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